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Cover Photo: Night fl ight evacuation from Tjuntjuntjara in Western 
Australia. Photo courtesy of Liam Byrne, a professional photographer 
who lived in the small community for three years. Liam was the 
volunteer Community Coordinator responsible for airstrip inspections 
and lighting for night-time evacuations, and tells of many a cold night 
spent waiting for the Flying Doctor to land, evaluate, load and take off . 
Liam and his wife (a primary school teacher) now live in another remote 
community in the Pilbara, and we thank them for their assistance and 
ongoing support of the RFDS.
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The Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) is 
internationally recognised as an aeromedical 
innovator, widely known for its ability to respond 
to health emergencies in remote parts of Australia. 
The RFDS also plays a vital role in meeting the 
primary health care needs for country Australia.
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THE YEAR’S HIGHLIGHTS >

15,232
Clinics conducted

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is the

most reputable
Australian charity for the 4th year running

(2014 AMR Charity Reputation Index)

26,847,325
kilometres
fl own by our fl eet of 66 aircraft

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is the

most reputable
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292,174
Patient contacts through RFDS 
clinics, aeromedical transports
and telehealth consultations

92,776
Telehealth
consultations

9,845
Episodes of 
dental care 
provided

64,673
Patients 
transported

2014/15
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23 Aero-bases >
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The above map shows just a selection of paths fl own
by the Royal Flying Doctor Service.

In 2014/15 we fl ew the equivalent
of 35 trips to the moon and back in 
servicing rural and remote Australia.

OUR REACH >

To see the Flying Doctor planes that are
in the air around Australia, in real-time,
visit www.fl yingdoctor.org.au and click on Flight Map.
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Beechcraft
King Air

B200
B200SE
B200C
B350C

Pilatus
PC-12

Cessna
C208

Hawker
800XP

Road Transport

Dental/Oral Health

Eye Care

66 Aircraft and 48 Vehicles >
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Service area covered…

7,150,000km2

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Daily Average Year

Patient
Contacts 800 292,174

1

Patient
Transports 177 64,676

 2

Health
Care Clinics 42 15,232

Distance
Flown (kms) 73,554 26,847,325

Number
of Landings 211 76,964

Telehealth
consultations 254 92,776

Number
of Aircraft 66

3

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service Aero-bases 23

4

Staff  Numbers 
(Headcount) 1,225

Staff  FTE (Full-time 
Equivalent) 1,056

1 Includes patients at clinics, patients transported, and telehealth

2  Includes primary evacuations, inter-hospital transfers, patients   
transported from a clinic, and repatriations

3  Does not include aircraft which will be decommissioned in 2014/15

4  A Royal Flying Doctor Service Base is a health facility that houses an 
aircraft and provides health services
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Overcoming barriers
to good health >

Remote and rural Australians see a doctor at half the rate of 
city people. They see medical specialists at a third the rate. 
Mental health workers are seen at a fi fth the rate.

This evidence, published in Royal Flying Doctor Service 
research reports this year, outlines barriers country people 
encounter in achieving good health. It shows despite the 
promise of universal access to health care, country people 
often go without.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia overcomes 
barriers to good health by providing access to health care 
where people otherwise miss out. In the course of the last 
year, the Royal Flying Doctor Service provided access to 
health care to 292,174 people across remote, rural, regional, 
and some parts of metropolitan Australia.

As a federation of seven companies, the 1,225 staff of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service provided aeromedical care to 
37,721 people, healthcare over the phone to 92,776 people, 
and saw 135,074 in health care clinics in isolated locations 
around the nation. Importantly, in the last year 9,845 were 
seen in Royal Flying Doctor dental services.

As a federation of seven companies, the last year saw 
major strides in our shared approach to the governance 
of our common brand. A fi rst ever Federation Agreement 
was developed. It will guide the way in which our seven 
companies work together. An unincorporated joint venture of 
the seven companies was developed. It will more effi ciently 
guide the way in which aeromedical, primary, and allied health 
services are delivered collectively. An inaugural Federation 
Reconciliation Action Plan was developed. It will contribute to 
improved health outcomes for First Australians.

The federation of seven companies was recognised during 
the last year as being Australia’s most reputable charity by 
AMR’s Charity Reputation Index, for the fourth year in a row. 
The Australian Government announced in May’s Federal 
Budget an increase of $20 million in budgeted funding for the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service over the next two years. May’s 
Federal Budget also announced $33.7 million for upgrade 
of remote airstrips, owned by others, but used by the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service to retrieve injured and ill people from 
different parts of Australia. For this support of our charitable 
donors and Commonwealth funder, we say thank you.

With a restructure of our Federation Company in 2014, 
a relocation from Sydney to Canberra in 2015, the 
establishment of a Research and Policy unit mid-year, the 
2014/15 reporting period has been one of change. Our 
Federation Company is now better positioned to focus on 
obligations to our Commonwealth funder, contributing to 
public policy for the benefi t of people in remote and rural 
Australia, and to improve the workings of our federation of 
seven companies.

In the year ahead, there will be even more to do in setting a 
course of the Royal Flying Doctor Service to continue in the 
years ahead to overcome barriers to good health arising from 
barriers in access to good health care services.

 

Hon Amanda Vanstone Martin Laverty
Federation Federation
Board Chair Chief Executive Offi cer

CHAIR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

Martin Laverty
Chief Executive Offi cer

Hon Amanda Vanstone
Federation Board Chair
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SECTION REPORTS >

The Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) is made up
of seven Sections or Operations around Australia
in a federated structure. Each have their own Board
and management.  Each is a charity, registered with
and regulated by the Australian Charities and
Not-For-Profi t Commission.

Queensland Section > 10

South Eastern Section > 12

Victorian Section > 14

Tasmanian Section > 16

Central Operations > 18

Western Operations > 20

Federation Offi  ce > 22
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Key outcomes

> Visited around 130 remote 
communities, providing a full range 
of health care services including 
GP, child and maternal health, 
mental and oral health to more than 
90,000 people.

> Held 4,935 Remote Health Clinics 
stretching from the far north to 
southwest Queensland. 

> Transported 11,554 patients to and 
from acute hospitals and specialist 
services ranging from Birdsville to 
Brisbane, Thursday Island, Cairns, 
Townsville and Mount Isa.

> Flew approximately 7.9million 
kilometres, with over 23,000 landings 
and over 24,000 hours fl ying time.

> Improved the dental health of 
regional Queenslanders through 
2,726 consultations via the QCoal 
Community Dental Service.

> Provided much needed medical 
advice via 13,153 remote medial 
phone or video-link consultations.

> Administered over 
4,052 immunisations.

Board and Management

RFDS Queensland employs over 
400 people in Queensland, with 
positions ranging from pilots, 
doctors, nurses, engineers, allied 
health professionals, and a variety of 
administration and support services 
roles including fi nance, marketing 
and human resources. 

The Board of RFDS Queensland 
comprises:

> Mr William Mellor, Chairman
> Mr Mark Gray
> Mr Michael Burnett
> Mr Richard Conder,

Deputy Chairman
> Mr Peter Gartshore
> Mrs Julia Leeds
> Dr Desley Marshall
> Mr Russell Postle
> Prof Robert Stable
> Mrs Sally-Anne Witherspoon

With its Queensland head offi  ce at Bowen Hills, Brisbane, the RFDS Queensland Section operates 

20 aircraft from nine operational bases located in Brisbane, Cairns, Townsville, Rockhampton, 

Bundaberg, Charleville, Mount Isa, Longreach and Roma. These bases form a strategic network of 

aeromedical services, as well as delivering a broad range of health care programs including general 

practice, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health, child and family health, social and emotional 

wellbeing, mental health, women’s health, oral health, and health promotion activities.

Queensland Section >

SECTION REPORTS >

Flight nurse and doctor with patient.

New RFDS Charleville base, opened on 31 October 2014.
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CASE STUDY: 32-week old twins decide they are not waiting

It was a sweltering summer’s day in 
Blackwater, 190 kilometres inland from 
Rockhampton, when expectant mother-
to-be Shannon Smithwick, decided to 
lie down for a rest. But her twins had 
other plans, and Shannon’s waters 
broke unexpectedly.

Shannon was taken to the local 
Blackwater Hospital, where staff began 
monitoring her closely.

The hospital was not equipped to meet 
the needs of premature 32-week twins. 
With Shannon’s labour advancing, it 
was clear she needed to get to the 
specialist care of the Royal Brisbane 
and Women’s Hospital (RBWH) urgently.

A RFDS crew from Bundaberg was 
dispatched. On board, Nurse Manager 
Jackie Hardy, an experienced midwife 
and nurse for almost 30 years, worked 
to relax Shannon’s contractions and 
ensure that Shannon and her daughters 
remained safe.

Once in Brisbane, Shannon’s 
contractions quickened. At 9.58am 
and 9.59am, Charlotte and Penny 

were born via C-section. Shannon and 
her daughters spent the next three 
weeks in Brisbane, under the care of a 
RBWH Neo-natal Intensive Care team. 
Once well enough, the Flying Doctor 
transported the girls to Rockhampton 
Mater Hospital, to be closer to family 
and friends.

Major Events

Flying Doctor opens new Base, 
Hangar and Visitor Centre in 
Charleville 

Having operated in Charleville for more 
than 70 years, RFDS Queensland 
began a new chapter in its history, with 
the official opening of its new Charleville 
Base, Hangar and Visitor Centre by 
His Excellency the Honourable Paul de 
Jersey AC, Governor of Queensland, 
and Mrs Kaye de Jersey, on Friday 31 
October, 2014. 

His Excellency, Patron of RFDS 
Queensland, was joined by Federal 
Member for Maranoa Bruce Scott 
and Murweh Shire Council Mayor 
Denis Cook, as well as current and 
past staff members, past patients, 
and supporters, station owners 
and suppliers at a morning tea to 
celebrate this milestone for the 
Charleville community. 

Mr Bill Mellor, Chairman of the RFDS 
(Queensland Section), said the 
development enabled the co-location of 
the base administration and the hangar 
offering increased efficiencies as well as 
a purpose-built Patient Transfer Facility 
and a new Flying Doctor Visitor Centre.

In 2014/15 we 
visited around 
130 remote 
communities, 
providing a full 
range of health 
care services 
to more than 
90,000 people. 

Shannon Smithwick with one of her twins
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Key Outcomes

> RFDS South Eastern achieved a 
number of highlights for 2014/15 
including treatment of 38,804 
patients treated at RFDS health 
care clinics.

> The RFDS SE extended staffing of 
the Wanaaring Remote Health Clinic, 
providing 24/7 emergency and health 
care services to the community and 
surrounding areas.

> The RFDS SE Dubbo Base is 
now a partner in the major blood 
transfusion service in Western NSW, 
which means blood is routinely 
stored on base at Dubbo, ready for 
immediate use.

> After three successful years, 
the RFDS SE is committed to 
continuation of The Outback 
Oral Treatment and Health 
(TOOTH) dental program servicing 
communities in Western NSW.

> The RFDS SE aeromedical simulator 
and education display gained a Silver 
Exhibit Award at Sydney’s Royal 
Easter Show.

> We launched a range of enhanced 
aircraft monitoring and safety 
systems, including flight data analysis 
that informs our pilot training system.

> We benefited from an outstanding 
level of support from our many and 
varied donors. During the year we 
received a very generous $16.3 million 
from donations and bequests, with 
this amount contributing 24 percent 
of our total revenue.

RFDS South Eastern provides life-saving emergency evacuations and comprehensive primary 

health care services across south eastern Australia, including southwest Queensland, eastern and 

northern South Australia, New South Wales, Victoria and Tasmania. We have nine bases and health 

care facilities in the South Eastern Section, located in Broken Hill, Dubbo, Bankstown, Mascot, 

Essendon and Launceston. In addition, we have medical centres in Moomba and Ballera where we 

provide health care services for Santos employees working in the Oil and Gas Fields, as well as for 

the residents on surrounding stations.

South Eastern Section >

Meeting the clinic plane at Wiawera.

SECTION REPORTS > continued

Board and Management

President Lyell Strambi and CEO 
Greg Sam led the Board and 
Management teams respectively 
through the year. This was Lyell’s first 
year as President, after serving four 
years on the Board prior to being 
elected President in October last year.

The Board of RFDS SE is accountable 
to members and stakeholders for the 
performance of the organisation, and 
ensures it meets its constitutional, 
legal and fiduciary responsibilities as a 
charitable, not-for-profit organisation.

The Board monitors and guides the 
performance and management of 
RFDS SE on behalf of the members, 
by whom it is elected and to whom 
it is responsible. The Board Charter 
clearly defines the matters that are 
the responsibility of the Board and 
those that the Board has delegated to 
management.
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CASE STUDY: Emergency flight from Packsaddle

While heading for the Menindee Lakes 
on a fishing trip, one of the vehicles 
became bogged in the sand. Gerald 
Dalton began to help out by attaching a 
tow rope, but unfortunately as the light 
faded, one of the other men accidentally 
reversed his vehicle into Gerald.

Gerald was injured, but was helped into 
another ute and the three mates drove 
to Packsaddle Roadhouse, 175 kms 
north of Broken Hill, to find help.

At Packsaddle, Gerald was given first aid 
by ambulance volunteer Mia Degoumois, 
who phoned the Flying Doctor.

RFDS Senior Medical Officer Dr John 
Wenham took the call at Broken Hill 
Base. Flight Nurse James Rozorio 
packed the aircraft, while new pilot Elke 
Hanel prepared for her first night landing 
onto dirt with the RFDS.

“I was relieved when the Flying 
Doctor got here”, says Mia. “It was a 
huge relief.”

Gerald was examined and given further 
pain relief, then loaded on board for 
Broken Hill Base Hospital. The following 
day he was transported to Adelaide for 
further checks, but fortunately he didn’t 
require surgery and was discharged.

Gerald is now recovering and thankful 
for the RFDS. “I don’t know what I 
would have done if it wasn’t for them”, 
he says.

A number of key senior management 
changes and recruitment were 
made during the year, including the 
establishment of a General Manager 
Base Operations and Service Delivery, 
to ensure effective delivery of our 
services. Mark Prior has joined the team 
in this position. David Charlton now 
takes on the role of General Manager 
Aviation and Strategic Development, 
and works to ensure our aviation 
systems and procedures meet the 
regulatory and service needs of the 
RFDS SE now and into the future. 
Also, this year, the position of General 
Manager People and Culture was 
established to replace the previous GM 
Human Resources position, reflecting 
the increased focus on workforce and 
cultural development and performance. 
Alexandra Tocchini has joined the RFDS 
SE in this capacity.

Major Events

New Patrons name an RFDS SE 
aircraft in honour of 60 years of 
voluntary service by the Broken 
Hill Women’s Auxiliary.

For 60 years, the Broken Hill Women’s 
Auxiliary Christmas has started in 
October, when they gather to make 
around 2,000 special RFDS Christmas 
Puddings to their secret recipe. The 
puddings are so renowned that they sell 
out before they have are even finished 
being made. They also fundraise with 
an annual ball and by holding raffles, 
street stalls and selling hampers. 
$95,000 was raised last financial year. 
Last year the Auxiliary was named 
2014 NSW Team Volunteer of the Year, 
and their contribution to RFDS SE 
was honoured with an aircraft named 
‘Broken Hill Women’s Auxiliary’ at a 
ceremony in Broken Hill in December.

New RFDS SE Patrons, His Excellency 
General the Honourable David Hurley AC 
DSC (Ret’d), Governor of NSW, and Mrs 
Linda Hurley officiated over this ceremony 
at the RFDS SE hangar at Broken Hill. 
They had this to say of their experience:

“Late last year we had the honour 
of officiating at an aircraft-naming 
ceremony to honour the Broken Hill 
Women’s Auxiliary. It was a wonderful 
opportunity to recognise and thank 
this hard-working Auxiliary and to meet 
some of the people who ensure that 
the Flying Doctor continues to provide 
essential healthcare for people in rural 
and remote Australia.”

Emergency retrieval from Packsaddle 
involving a man who had been crushed 
between two vehicles while trying to fix a 
tow-rope to a utility.
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Key outcomes

RFDS Victoria is proud to be providing 
more non-emergency patient-
transports, primary health care and first 
aid services at events. In 2014/15 we 
provided services to more than 29,250 
patients throughout Victoria. 

Our health care model promotes 
partnerships with peak health bodies, 
the Victorian Government and 
communities where we have identified 
greatest need and where RFDS 
Victoria can make a real difference to 
health outcomes. 

Our Mobile Dental Care provided dental 
checks and oral education sessions 
for more than 1,550 patients in 128 
locations across Victoria at a range of 
community facilities including schools, 
bush nursing centres and aged care 
facilities, as well as conducting dental 
checks at a number of field days. 

We also increased our partnership with 
Ambulance Victoria (AV) to provide 
more non-emergency patient-transport 
services in Victoria. This means that 
RFDS Victoria is now the largest 
provider of AV’s non-emergency patient 
transfers in Victoria.

RFDS Victoria provides primary health care services and non-emergency road and air patient-

transport throughout Victoria. We have 12 bases, each accommodating patient-transport road 

crews and vehicles, travelling across large parts of Victoria from Mildura and Wodonga in the north, 

Horsham in the west and Sale in the east. Aircraft at Essendon Airport complement our fleet of over 

40 non-emergency patient-transport road vehicles. We also provide primary health services including 

Mobile Dental Care, Mobile Eye Care, Diabetes Telehealth Services, health checks at field days, and 

Rural Women’s GP Services to people who do not have access to these services in regional Victoria.

Victorian Section >

Board and Management

RFDS Victoria’s Board of Directors 
compromises nine Directors who provide 
direction and guidance and oversee the 
operations of RFDS Victoria. The Board 
members are:

> W. Murray Rogers AM, Chairman
> Rasa Bertrand, Deputy Chair
> Denise Reynolds 

(resigned 25/11/2014)
> Robyn Lardner
> W. Bernard Delaney, Treasurer
> Dr Kim Webber 

(resigned 25/11/2014)
> Peter Berry 

(took a leave of absence 01/01/2015)
> Denis Henry
> Damien Bruce 

RFDS Victoria’s Senior Management team 
comprises:

> Scott Chapman, Chief Executive
> Heather Pritchard, General Manager 

Corporate Services
> Margaret Kuhne, Acting General 

Manager Primary Health Care
> Tim Scott, General Manager 

Patient Transport
> Jacqui deKievit, General Manager 

Marketing and Fundraising 

SECTION REPORTS > continued

Caption lorem ipsum sit dolor amet conseqeteur adipiscing elit

Right: Mobile Dental Care Program 
Manager Roisin McGrath and volunteer 
dentist Monica O’Malley and the Mobile 

Dental Care dentist’s chair.
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CASE STUDY: Flying Doctor takes Baby Zoe safely home

Rebecca and her husband Matt 
decided to take a two-week holiday 
prior to the birth of their second child, 
baby Zoe.

A few days into their holiday, Rebecca 
stated to feel some pressure around her 
lower back region, reminding her of how 
she felt in the early stages of labour 
with her first child. “Being 31 weeks 
pregnant, I wasn’t too concerned but 
decided to go to Gold Coast University 
Hospital for a check-up”, Rebecca said.

“They soon worked out I was in 
labour and the baby was in a breech 
position. An emergency caesarean was 
performed and little Zoe was born.”

Baby Zoe spent three nights in the 
neo-natal intensive care unit. Once she 
could breathe unassisted, she was 
moved to the Special Care Nursery 
before the RFDS flew mother and 
daughter back home to Melbourne, in 
the care of Flight nurse Jenine Harmer 
and Pilot Peter Baker.

“Matt and my son took a commercial 
flight, and I flew with little Zoe, who was 
in a humidicrib, in the Flying Doctor’s 
plane. The crew were lovely and made 
me feel very comfortable despite some 
pretty extreme turbulence.”

Major events

On Monday 31 March 2015, 
Ambulance Victoria (AV) awarded 
RFDS Victoria a substantial increase 
in the provision of non-emergency 
patient-transport services in 
Victoria. This increases our fleet 
to 80 ambulances and 300 staff 
throughout Victoria, providing the 
opportunity to deliver quality care to 
more people, by air and road, living 
throughout Victoria.

RFDS Victoria’s first aid event care 
has rapidly grown and now provides 
medical support for over 200 
Victorian events including 114 AFL 
matches and 79 Melbourne Racing 
Club events. The service offers first 
aid responders, paramedics, nurses 
and doctors, who form an event’s 
medical support team.

Over 400 stakeholders, corporate 
partners, suppliers, major donors 
and health partners networked 
and raised funds at our annual 
‘Going the Distance’ Dinner, held in 
August 2015.

Aircraft capability from Essendon 
Airport complements RFDS 
Victoria’s road patient transport 
vehicles based in regional centres 
around the State. RFDS Victoria’s 
Bayside Auxiliary raised funds from 
sale of cakes, books and community 
markets to buy a new humidicrib for 
RFDS Victoria in 2014.

In 2014/15 we provided services 
to more than 29,250 patients 
throughout Victoria.

Baby Zoe in a humidicrib.
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Key Outcomes

> RFDS Tasmania received a significant bequest enabling the 
appointment of a Chief Executive Officer. Mr John Kirwan 
commenced in January 2015 to develop a sustainable 
health care model for remote and regional areas of 
the state. 

> A report and associated study were commissioned 
that brought together a wide range of evidence- based 
information about the health status of the Tasmanian 
population, and described the potential opportunities for 
the RFDS to contribute in primary health care. 

> The research by KP Health consultants found that there 
are considerable differences in health outcomes between 
remote Tasmania and those residing in areas where 
services are present and easily accessible. RFDS Tasmania 
is now building on past good work and looking to expand 
primary health care programs to assist in bridging this gap. 

> In addition to supporting aeromedical services, RFDS 
Tasmania has been engaged in delivering oral health 
programs and funding important research undertaken by 
the Menzies Institute for Medical Research.

> Annual medical, nursing and dental scholarships were 
awarded to three outstanding young Tasmanians to 
provide valuable professional experience in rural medicine 
and dentistry.

> Three patient transfer facilities are now in place at rural 
airports around Tasmania including St Helens, Flinders 
Island and more recently, the shelter on King Island. The 
facilities are used to improve the overall comfort of patients 
during the transfer from road ambulance to air ambulance.

> The Look! Up in the Sky educational program reached 
new heights in Tasmanian schools, with a state simulator 
tour reaching 2000 primary school students through 75 
presentations.

The island state of Tasmania is located 240 km to the south of the Australian mainland, separated 

by Bass Strait. Tasmania is a natural island and known for its dramatic coastlines and vast rugged 

wilderness areas. The island is classified as rural with significant areas of remoteness and has a 

regionally dispersed population with one third of residents living outside the major centres of 

Hobart or Launceston. RFDS Tasmania supports the provision of the aeromedical contract held by 

RFDS South Eastern Section and reaches out to communities with primary health care services.

Tasmanian Section >

Erin Muralt, 2014 Robin Miller RFDS Nursing Scholarship recipient.

SECTION REPORTS > continued
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CASE STUDY: Dental outreach to rural communities

Research undertaken on behalf of the 
RFDS by Dr Kim Webber indicated 
that dental health was an area of need 
in rural and remote disadvantaged 
communities across Tasmania.

Responding to this information, RFDS 
Tasmania appointed a project officer, 
who consulted with government and 
communities to better understand 
where the needs were greatest.

A pilot program was initiated at a 
primary school in Southern Tasmania in 
collaboration with Oral Health Services 
Tasmania. Students at the school 
were provided with screening, fluoride 
varnish, fissure sealant, and referrals 
where required. The children took home 
an RFDS pack including toothbrush, 
toothpaste and information on dental 
hygiene. 

Subsequently, RFDS Tasmania 
partnered with Oral Health Services 
Tasmania to deliver two dental clinics 
for the South East Tasmanian Aboriginal 
Corporation. The aim of the program 
was to provide dental services for 
families that were otherwise unable to 
attend local Oral Health Clinics and to 
provide education and information at 
the time of consultation. Over 40% of 
the participants had never previously 
accessed dental care. 

In addition, the RFDS supports 
the Flinders Island dental service 
by providing dentists and dental 
equipment.

Board and Management 

RFDS Tasmania is governed by an honorary Board, 
comprising a President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer 
and two to five elected members. The Board nominates a 
representative for the Federation Board of Directors. 

The Board is committed to responsible corporate governance 
for its performance and is accountable to its members, 
stakeholders and all statutory and regulatory authorities. The 
Board sets the values, goals and strategic direction of RFDS 
Tasmania. It approves strategic and financial plans, monitors 
achievement of these goals, and oversees the operations of 
the RFDS in Tasmania, with the exception of the aeromedical 
contract operated by RFDS South Eastern Section.

The 2014/15 elected office holders and President of 
RFDS Tasmania:

> Mr Malcolm White, President
> Dr George Merridew, Vice President
> Mrs Sarah Merridew, Treasurer
> Mr Rob Grey, Secretary
> Mr Lindsay Millar OAM
> Ms Caroline Wells
> Mr Tim Maddock
> Ms Jan Davis

Mr John Kirwan was appointed as the inaugural Chief 
Executive Officer. Mr Kirwan is supported by four part time 
staff members. 

Major events

Agfest supports the Flying Doctor

The RFDS was chosen as the 2015 official charity of Agfest, 
the state’s premier rural field event, held annually at Quercus 
Park in Tasmania. 

Agfest is entirely self-funded and run by a volunteer 
committee from Rural Youth Tasmania to support rural 
business in the state. The three-day event attracts in excess 
of 60,000 patrons. 

As the 2015 official charity, the RFDS received a donation 
and a prime vantage point near the entry gates to increase 
awareness about the important work the service performs 
in Tasmania. 

The aeromedical training simulator and medical dummy were 
on show, attracting a high level of interest, and the volunteers 
heard heart-warming stories from many patrons about their 
experiences with the RFDS. 

The site featured a photographic and historical memorabilia 
display and a colouring-in competition for children that was 
judged by ambassador, Nick Duigan. The RFDS volunteers 
worked tirelessly to ensure that the appearance at Agfest was 
a great success.

Di Murphy RFDS Tas, Lottie Birley, Madeleine Tatnell and Ruby Tatnell.
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Key Outcomes

Some highlights for RFDS Central 
Operations during 2014/15 were:

> 15,348 landings at 168 locations
> 8,618 patients transported
> 1,162 primary health clinics
> 492 immunisations
> 6,192 mental health consultations
> 1,146 enrolments in health education 

and emergency training programs
> launch of life-size hologram of John 

Flynn at the RFDS Alice Springs 
Tourist Facility

> $12.38 million generated from 
fundraising at a cost of 9.8 cents 
for every dollar raised

Board and Management

RFDS Central Operations Board 
members are:

> David Hills, Chairman
> Loretta Reynolds, Deputy Chairman
> Paul Prestwich, Treasurer
> Janet Chisholm
> Dr Tim Cooper AM
> Glenise Coulthard
> Dr Ian Gould AM
> Brendan Eblen
> The Hon Graham Gunn AM

Management:

> John Lynch, Chief Executive Officer
> Tony Vaughan, Chief Operating Officer
> Peter Docking, General Manager 

Aviation Services
> Stephen Batt, General Manager 

Corporate Services
> Dr John Woodall, General Manager 

Health Services
> Robynne Hall, General Manager 

Human Resources
> Charlie Paterson, General Manager 

Marketing and PR
> Michael Toomey, General Manager 

Northern Territory
> Daniel Collingwood, General 

Manager Safety Quality and Risk
> Ollie Kratounis, General Manager 

Strategic Projects

RFDS Central Operations was founded in 1939 and is responsible for delivering 24/7 emergency 

aeromedical and essential primary health care services throughout South Australia and the 

southern half of the Northern Territory. With around 190 staff, RFDS Central Operations runs three 

aeromedical bases located in Adelaide, Port Augusta and Alice Springs, as well as a primary health 

care facility in Marree on the Birdsville Track. It also operates the award-winning RFDS Alice Springs 

Tourist Facility.

Central Operations >

SECTION REPORTS > continued

Above: Aeromedical retrieval of a patient, 
with flight nurse.

Left: The Flying Doctor coming in for a landing.
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From our three 
bases, we assist 
nearly 50,000 
patients 
every year 
– that’s one 
person every 
20 minutes.

David and Megan Henderson with dog Pete

CASE STUDY: Continuity of Care

For SA pastoralists David and Megan 
Henderson, a visit from the Flying 
Doctor means the difference between 
taking precious time off, often an 
entire day or two, to go to town to see 
the doctor.

On any given day, the RFDS will 
provide assistance to around 100 
patients in South and Central Australia 
– most via fly-in GP, Community 
Health Nurse or allied health clinics 
to isolated communities, mines or 
station homesteads.

“If we didn’t have the RFDS come to us 
we’d need to add a visit to the doctor 
or dentist to all of the other jobs for 
the next time we go to town in Port 
Augusta”, Megan Henderson says.

That means a road trip of around six 
hours for the Hendersons, who run 
20,000 sheep and 300 cattle on Mount 
Vivian and Kokatha stations, near 
Glendambo, 600 kilometres north-west 
of Adelaide, which they manage with 
their son Will. 

“One of the great things is that we have 
the same doctors come to visit, there’s 
a continuity of care from the RFDS”, 
Megan says.

“It’s also great having a female doctor; 
we don’t always have that choice 
out here.”

RFDS Central Operations conducted 
255 fly-in GP clinics in 2014/15 and 
attended to 2,255 patients, many 
of them station people just like the 
Hendersons. The RFDS service means 
they have their own community doctors 
and nurses - like people living in the city.

Major events 

The 2015 RFDS Central Operations 
signature black-tie fundraising event, 
the ‘Wings for Life’ Gala Ball, took 
guests out for ‘une soirée glamour’ 
with A Night on the Riviera on 
Saturday 23 May.

Decked out in boats of all sizes, 
including some life-size yachts, 
striped umbrellas and deckchairs, 
the Adelaide Entertainment Centre 
took on a distinctly Cote d’Azur feel. 
The 700 guests were entertained 
by MC Jessica Adamson, themed 
dancers and the Dan Hamill Band, 
while silent and live auctions along 
with major prize draws – featuring a 
trip for two to Paris – combined to 
raise an amazing $170,000.

Earlier in 2015, the RFDS’ 20th 
Wilpena Under the Stars was held 
in February in the shadow of the 
famous Wilpena Pound in South 
Australia’s iconic Flinders Ranges 
where 650 guests partied the 
night away, helping to raise more 
than $100,000.

David and Megan Henderson with dog Pete.
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Key Outcomes

Aero Medical Fund

In May 2015, Western Operations 
launched the Aero Medical Fund, a 
critical capital raising campaign to enable 
the long- term future of the RFDS. 

Looking ahead over the next fi ve years 
to 2020, the RFDS forecasts the need 
for aeromedical and remote health 
services in WA will continue to change 
and increase. 

The Aero Medical Fund offers a unique 
opportunity for like-minded businesses 
and individuals to align their values 
with the RFDS and invest critically 
needed funds.

80 Years of Operations

2015 marked the 80th year of the 
RFDS providing aeromedical and 
primary health care services in Western 
Australia, where the need and patient 
demand for our assistance continues 
to grow, and our footprint is evolving 
to match.

Our services have developed 
signifi cantly over the past 80 years. 
Through technology and leadership, our 
capability has developed considerably, 
and we’ve continued our role as 
sustainable, innovative leaders in 
aeromedical health.

New Base in the
North West – Broome

With a 236 percent increase in demand 
for aeromedical services in Broome over 
the past fi ve years, our Broome base 
is set to bolster our capabilities in the 
north of the state.

Construction has begun on the base to 
ensure the RFDS can continue to meet 
the increasing and changing patient 
demand for our aeromedical services 
in the north of WA. In 2014/15 alone, 
the RFDS fl ew over 1,100 patients to 
and from Broome, making it our busiest 
transport hub in the north of the state.

Pilatus PC-24 Jet Aircraft

As a global launch partner, RFDS 
Western Operations placed orders for 
three Pilatus PC-24 jet aircraft, due to 
arrive from 2017. 

The Pilatus PC-24 jet aircraft is 
revolutionising aeromedicine for the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service, ensuring 
better outcomes for people in WA.

The RFDS in Western Australia services over 2.5 million square kilometres, operating out of fi ve bases 

with 15 aircraft. Using the latest in aviation, medical and communications technology, the RFDS 

delivers emergency aeromedical response and treatment to sick and injured patients; inter-hospital 

transfers; telehealth consultations; allied health and medical specialist and nursing services to over 

70,000 people each year in WA. The state of Western Australia is a vast area, and the RFDS provides 

the fi nest care to the furthest corner.

Western Operations >

SECTION REPORTS > continued

Patient being taken from the RFDS jet to a 
waiting ambulance.
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CASE STUDY: Pilatus PC-24

The Pilatus PC-24 jet aircraft is 
revolutionising aero medicine for the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service, ensuring 
better outcomes for people in WA.

This innovative jet aircraft will change 
the way the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service operates. With industry-leading 

technology and ground-breaking 
features, the PC-24 jets will enable the 
RFDS to transport more stretchered 
patients at the same time, increasing 
efficiency and capability.

The PC-24 jet aircraft will deliver 
increased fuel efficiency and, with twice 

the cruising speed of the PC-12, will 
improve both operational and patient 
outcomes. With the increased capacity 
to carry three stretchered patients, 
along with a bespoke intensive care 
aeromedical design and fit out, and 
a cabin pressurised to sea level, the 
PC-24 jets are a game changing aircraft 
for the RFDS. 

Key features of the Pilatus PC-24 
jet aircraft:

> Improved fuel efficiency
> Single pilot operation
> Bespoke intensive care aeromedical 

design and fit-out
> Increased capacity for three 

stretchered patients
> Cruising speed of 780 km/h
> Short take-off and 

landing capabilities
> Access to unsealed remote airstrips.

In 2014/15 the RFDS in WA 
flew over 8 million kilometres 
and over 9,000 patients.

Board and Management

The Directors of Western Operations in 
office during the financial year ended 30 
June 2015 were:

> Mr Neville Bassett AM, Chairman
> Mr Richard Alder, Deputy Chairman
> Mr Colin Heath
> Mr John Hancock
> Mr Michael Hutson
> Mr Brian Pontifex 

(resigned – 24 April 2015)
> Ms Erica Smyth
> Dr Ann Ward
> Mrs Robyn Sermon

The RFDS WA Chief Executive Officer is 
Mr Grahame Marshall.

Major Event

Altitude Ball

The RFDS WA major annual fundraising 
ball ‘Altitude’ 2015 took place on 
Saturday 25 July at Crown, Perth and 
was another huge success in building 
the RFDS brand with the Perth urban 
audience, our relationships with key 
corporate stakeholders and engaging 
with the broader corporate community. 

Officially sold out nearly 6 weeks in 
advance, Altitude 2015 attracted 760 of 
Perth’s influential corporate companies 
and individuals who helped raise 
essential funds for the critical work our 
teams deliver to our patients.

With entertainment including Jessica 
Mauboy, the event was hugely 
successful in building and maintaining 
relationships with current corporate 
partners and supporters, as well 
as developing relationships with 
prospective supporters. In this the 80th 
anniversary of the RFDS in Western 
Australia, Altitude was a celebration of 
the legacy that is the RFDS.

An illustration of the Pilatus PC-24 jet 
aircraft with RFDS livery.
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The first-ever Canberra outpost of the RFDS was opened in January 2015. With a new permanent 

home in Canberra, the RFDS can work closely with government and industry to overcome barriers 

to primary health services for rural and remote Australia. The Federation Company also has 

responsibility for facilitating communication between RFDS Sections and to provide a public ‘voice’ 

on health matters for rural and remote Australia.

Federation Company >

RFDS Federation Office opening in Canberra, March 2015.

SECTION REPORTS > continued

Key Outcomes

> We are grateful for a $20 million 
increase in RFDS funding from 
the Australian Government, to 
approximately $68 million per annum 
for each of the next two years, allows 
the Flying Doctor to continue to 
retrieve the injured or ill and provide 
intensive care in the air. It also allows 
fly-in, fly-out GP and nurse clinics 
to deliver primary care and gives at 
least two years certainty that health 
services in remote areas will continue.

> Australian Government funding 
of $33.7 million over four years 
for the Remote Airstrip Upgrade 
Programme, which will see vital 
improvements made to runways 
used by the Flying Doctor for medical 
evacuations.

> The Federation Office moved to its 
new home on Brisbane Avenue, 
Canberra in January of 2015. The 
office was officially opened by the 
Federal Health Minister Sussan 
Ley and the Deputy Prime Minister, 
Minister for Infrastructure and 
Regional Development, Warren 
Truss, and attended by key leaders 
in the health industry.

> Early in 2015, the RFDS Federation 
Office established a Research and 
Policy Unit. The Unit’s role is to 
gather evidence about barriers to 
poor health outcomes and limited 
health service access for patients 
and communities cared for by RFDS 
programs, and to recommend ways 
to overcome those barriers. Our first 
two research papers were completed 
and published.

> In cooperation with all RFDS 
Sections and Operations, there 
has been development of an RFDS 
Reconciliation Action Plan for building 
better relationships with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

> A Federation Agreement has been 
drawn up to provide a framework for 
the seven different RFDS companies 
to work cooperatively in accord 
with the RFDS mission to provide 
excellence in aeromedical and 
primary health care across Australia.

> The RFDS website received a major 
facelift and provides a unified national 
image for the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service while also giving each of the 
RFDS Sections the capacity to well 
communicate about their events, 
news, services, fundraising, bases 
and more.
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David and Megan Henderson with dog Pete

RESEARCH PAPER: 
Filling the Gap

A research report released in 
September 2015 by the new Research 
and Policy Unit, shines a spotlight on 
oral health for country Australians. 
Oral health and dental care access 
disparities between the city and the 
bush include:

> childhood cavities are 55% higher for 
remote area children than children 
in major cities, and the number of 
filled teeth in remote area children, is 
double that of city children;

> a quarter (23%) of adults in major 
cities have untreated tooth decay, 
but this rises to one third (37%) of 
remote area residents;

> more than half (57%) of Indigenous 
Australians have one or more teeth 
affected by decay;

> more than six in ten (63%) adults 
in major cities visited a dentist in a 
year, compared to little more than 
four in ten (45%) visiting a dentist in 
remote areas.

The RFDS research report, Filling the 
gap: disparities in oral health access 
and outcomes between major cities 
and remote and rural Australia, can be 
downloaded at www.flyingdoctor.org.au 
/whatwedo/research.

Major Events

Plane in the 
Parliamentary Paddock 

With personalised RFDS ‘boarding 
pass’ invitations having been sent to all 
Members of Parliament and Senators 
several weeks in advance, on a March 
morning an RFDS aircraft simulator 
‘landed’ on the lawns of Parliament 
House in Canberra. Over the course of 
the day, guided tours were conducted 
for MPs, Senators, their staff, local 
media and several classes of school 
children. A veteran RFDS doctor and 
flight nurse were aboard to help visitors 
understand the role that the RFDS 
plays in providing both emergency and 
primary health care services to the 
Outback, and the Country Women’s 
Association graciously provided their 
renowned refreshments.

National Rural Health 
Conference, Darwin

As principal partner for the biennial 
conference, the Federation Office 
coordinated attendance by some 
30 RFDS staff from around Australia. 
In addition to banner displays that 
communicated the broad role of the 
Flying Doctor in rural health service 
provision, there was also a video 
slide-show loop and guided tours 
of an RFDS aircraft simulator with 
interviews of operational medical staff. 
A branded barista bar also provided 
quality coffee as further incentive for the 
1,100 conference delegates to visit the 
RFDS stand.

Above: An RFDS plane simulator on the lawns of Parliament House.
Below: RFDS display and aircraft simulator at the National Rural Health Conference in Darwin.

…an RFDS aircraft 
simulator ‘landed’ 
on the lawns of 
Parliament House.
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FEDERATION COMPANY >

Moving ahead >

1

Accidents and Injury

This discussion paper will describe 
the impact of accidents and injuries 
on remote and rural Australians, and 
will present internal data on patient 
evacuations resulting from injuries. 
It will recommend preventative and 
public health strategies that could be 
employed to reduce the incidence of 
accidents in rural and remote areas.

2

Diabetes

This discussion paper will describe 
the prevalence of diabetes in rural and 
remote Australia. It will consider how 
diabetes is managed in rural and remote 
communities, and identify similarities 
and differences with rural and major 
cities. It will describe the RFDS diabetes 
services, and will recommend preventive 
strategies to reduce prevalence in rural 
and remote Australia.

3

Cardiovascular Disease

This paper will discuss the prevalence 
of cardiovascular disease in rural and 
remote Australia and compare it with 
prevalence in Australian cities. The 
paper will look at how cardiovascular 
disease is managed by the RFDS and 
other organisations and the services 
that are provided. It will identify 
preventative and public health strategies 
that could be employed to reduce the 
incidence of cardiovascular disease.

The Federation Offi  ce will be continuing to work to build strong 

relationships with the Australian Government in Health and other 

relevant portfolios.

In accordance with the RFDS commitment to ‘give voice’ to signifi cant issues within 
the sector, the RFDS Research and Policy Unit has identifi ed a need to produce 
several evidence-based and solution-focused discussion papers over the next year.

Facebook

In the last two years, the 
RFDS engagement on 
the Facebook platform 
has increased 4x, with an 
average community reach 
of 300,000 – 500,000 on a 
weekly basis.

Our posts are being 
seen, ‘liked’, shared and 
commented on by more than 
30,000 – 60,000 people 
on an average post (which 
is an increase of 30x in the 

last two years). On popular 
posts, the reach can be 
200,000 – 300,000 for a 
single post.

RFDS Facebook content 
is story-based and not 
focused on fundraising. It 
encourages conversation 
and engagement around 
stories about patients, staff, 
fundraising and volunteers.

COMMUNITY
SOCIAL CHANNELS 

The RFDS operates across 
fi ve separate social media 
channels to remain engaged 
with supporters and the 
general community. All RFDS 
Sections have access to and 
use the joint social media 
accounts, following agreed 
Federation Offi ce guidelines.
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Reconciliation Action Plan

The Federation of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
is committed to improved health outcomes and access 
to health services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Australians. As part of this commitment, a Reconciliation 
Action Plan (RAP) has been agreed to expand the contribution 
made to closing the gap in health disparities between 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians. 

As a federated charity, the Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia provides aeromedical, primary, and allied health care 
services across Australia. In remote and rural Australia, it is 
often the only provider of health services. It is subsequently a 
signifi cant provider of services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people and their communities. Roughly half of all 
Royal Flying Doctor Service care recipients are Aboriginal or 
Torres Strait Islander Australians.

Our RAP has been developed as means of committing the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to the “Close the 
Gap” campaign in order to improve both health outcomes 
and access to health services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Australians. Our RAP was initiated by the Board of 
Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, and 
reporting against the RAP commitments will be monitored by 
the Board. 

The RAPs goals are to:

> as a large employer, focus actions on building the cultural 
capability of Royal Flying Doctor Service workforce;

> prioritise relationship development with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander controlled organisations that foster 
health and wellbeing;

> enhance outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
patients cared for by the Royal Flying Doctor Service and 
others by developing the capacity of the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander health workforce, and using our 
research and policy voice to advance Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander health and wellbeing.

The RAP will commence in January 2016, operate for two 
years, and be monitored for success and reported on in future 
year’s annual reports.

Twitter

The RFDS is using Twitter 
daily to communicate news, 
events and general public 
interest stories of the Flying 
Doctor. We have 7,000 
followers on the platform 
and gain 4 – 5 new followers 
daily. A daily tweet is seen 
by 10,000 – 30,000 people, 
based to the reach of shares.

LinkedIn

With a reach to those 
working in the health and 
medical industry, the RFDS 
LinkedIn account has been 
steadily growing, with 3,000 
followers (2x in 12 months). 
With the new RFDS website 
now launched, the LinkedIn 
platform will be used to 
provide more careers 
information about the Flying 
Doctor, as well as to publish 
industry-focused articles.

YouTube

With compelling story-
based content, the RFDS 
YouTube channel continues 
to grow in popularity. We 
have uploaded 35 videos 
in 12 months, with 584 
subscribers to the Flying 
Doctor YouTube channel, 
and 98,301 total views of our 
video library.

Instagram

The newest of our social 
media channels, Instagram 
is all about photos seen 
through the eyes of the 
Flying Doctor. In the last 
12 months, we had 100 
photos posted, which 
communicate well our work 
and the remote locations our 
services are provided in, with 
1,411 followers. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors >

Top row L-R: Amanda Vanstone, Michael Reid, Loretta Reynolds, William Rogers.  
Bottom row L-R: Lyell Strambi, Richard Alder, Malcolm White, William Mellor.

Mrs Amanda Vanstone

NATIONAL CHAIR 

Former Senator for South Australia (1984–
2004); Minister (1996–2007); Ambassador to 
Italy (2007–2010). 

Director, Port Adelaide Football Club; 
Director, DrinkWise; Director, Institute for 
International Trade; Director, Vision 20/20.

Mr Michael Reid

DEPUTY CHAIR 

Consultant, Michael Reid and Associates; 
Former Director General, Queensland Health 
(2008–2011); Former Director General, NSW 
Health (1997–2002).

Ms Loretta Reynolds
BEc, LLB, F Fin, FAICD

DEPUTY CHAIR OF RFDS 
CENTRAL OPERATIONS 

Current Corporate Partner and Chair, 
Thomson Geer; Non-Executive Director, SA 
Health & Medical Research Institute; Former 
Non-Executive Director, Arafura Resources 
Limited and MTAA Super.

Mr William Murray Rogers AM

CHAIR OF RFDS VICTORIA

Former: Executive Chairman, Kellogg (Aust) 
Pty Ltd; Chairman, Australian Food Council; 
Chief Executive Offi cer, AWB Ltd; Chairman, 
Single Vision Grains Australia and Chairman, 
Australian Grain Technologies. Former Fellow 
of the AICD, the AIM and currently Chairman, 
McLachlan Consolidated Fishermen Ltd.

Mr Lyell Strambi
SOUTH EASTERN SECTION PRESIDENT

Former Chief Executive Offi cer Qantas 
Domestic; Former Chief Operating Offi cer, 
Virgin Atlantic Airways; Former Executive 
General Manager, Ground Services, Ansett 
Australia Ltd; Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors; Fellow of the 
Royal Aeronautical Society.

Mr Richard Alder 
DIRECTOR OF RFDS 
WESTERN OPERATIONS 

Member of the National Board’s Finance and 
Audit Committee. Retired Financial Advisor. 

Mr Malcolm White
PRESIDENT OF RFDS 
TASMANIAN SECTION

Former Chief Executive Offi cer TAFE 
Tasmania; Non-Executive Director, TDA 
National Scholarships Foundation; Director, 
Royal Flying Doctor Service. 

Holds a Master of Business Administration 
and an Air Transport Pilot Licence.

Mr William (Bill) Mellor
DSC, AM, BA(Qld), Grad Dip Strat Studies, 

Dip App Sc, GAICD

CHAIRMAN OF RFDS 
QUEENSLAND SECTION

Bill joined the Queensland Board in 2005. 
He is Chair of the Remuneration and 
Appointments Committee and a member of 
the Finance and Audit Committee. 

A graduate of the University of Queensland, 
Bill is currently employed by the Queensland 
State Government.
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Governance >

National Board of Directors

The National Board of Directors is 
committed to responsible corporate 
governance. In accordance with the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations, 
the Board has established a sound 
framework of corporate governance 
practices that it considers appropriate 
for the Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia. The Board recognises that 
it is accountable to members and 
stakeholders for the performance of 
the organisation and, to that end, is 
responsible for implementing a system 
of corporate governance that operates 
in the best interests of members while 
also addressing the interests of other 
key stakeholders. The Board also 
recognises that corporate governance is 
not a static matter and regularly reviews 
the organisation’s policies and practices 
to ensure that they remain current and 
in accordance with best practice.

Board role and responsibilities

The Board guides and monitors the 
performance and management of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
on behalf of the members, by whom it is 
elected and to whom it is accountable. 
The Board Charter clearly defines the 
matters that are reserved for the Board, 
and those that the Board has delegated 
to management.

The principal responsibilities of the 
Board include:

> contributing to the development 
and implementation of 
organisation strategy;

> monitoring the corporate and 
financial performance of the 
organisation;

> approving the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia Financial 
Statements, including the annual 
audit report;

> appointing Board members and the 
National Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

> delegating clear responsibility and 
authority to the committees of 
the Board, the National CEO and 
management;

> monitoring and reviewing the 
performance of those who hold 
delegated powers;

> monitoring and reviewing processes 
and systems of risk management 
and internal compliance and control;

> overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia corporate 
governance framework;

> overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia processes for 
disclosure and communications; and

> reviewing and authorising 
major projects.

Composition of the Board

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
of Australia seeks to have a Board 
comprising Directors with relevant 
knowledge, experience and expertise 
to deal with the current and emerging 
issues of the business, to review 
and challenge the performance 
of management, and to exercise 
independent judgment. The 
National Board currently comprises 
eight Director positions, with six 
Section representatives and two 
Independent Directors.

Independence of Directors

Directors have an overriding 
responsibility to perform their duties 
in the best interests of the Company. 
Directors are required to disclose, on 
an ongoing basis, any interest that 
could potentially conflict with those 
of the Company. In accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, and under 
the Board Charter, any Director with a 
material personal interest in a matter 
being considered by the Board must 
declare the possible conflict of interest. 
They must not be present when the 
matter is being considered and may not 
vote on the matter.

Operation of the Board

The Board and its committees meet 
regularly to review strategies and 
operational performance. The Chairman 
and National CEO communicate 
regularly to discuss issues relating to 
the business and to set Board agendas. 
In addition, Directors receive regular 
updates from management on key 
issues between Board meetings.
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Directors’ Report
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

The directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2015. The directors report as follows:

Information about the directors and senior management 
The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Particulars 

Ms Amanda Vanstone Director, RFDS of Australia 
Resides in North Adelaide, South Australia

Mr Michael Reid Director, RFDS of Australia 
Resides in Bowral, New South Wales

Mr Murray Rogers AM Director, RFDS Victorian Section 
Resides in Brighton, Victoria

Mr Richard Alder Director, RFDS Western Operations 
Resides in Crawley, Western Australia 

Ms Loretta Reynolds Director, RFDS Central Operations 
Resides in Rosslyn Park, South Australia 

Mr Malcolm White Director, RFDS Tasmanian Section 
Resides in East Launceston, Tasmania 

Mr William Mellor Director, RFDS Queensland Section 
Resides in Brookfield, Queensland

Mr Lyell Strambi Director, RFDS South Eastern Section 
Resides in Rushcutters Bay, New South Wales 
Appointed 21 November 2014

Mr John Milhinch OAM Director, RFDS South Eastern Section 
Resigned 21 November 2014

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year except 
where stated.

Company Secretary 
Mr David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the 
operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in the nature 
of this activity occurred during the year.

Review of operations
The company acts as the central coordinating body for member organisations and aims to achieve the coordinated provision of 
health services in Australia by its member organisations. The day to day operations for the delivery of services are carried out by 
the operating sections.

The operating surplus of the company for the financial year was $1,293,330 (2014: deficit of $1,436,706). No income tax is 
payable as the company is exempt from paying such tax.

The company’s operation for the year included the receipt and distribution amongst its member organisations of 
Commonwealth operational and capital grants, donations, bequests and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the company for 
the mutual benefit of its member organisations and people in rural and remote areas of Australia.

Changes in state of affairs
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year.
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Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the fi nancial year that has signifi cantly 
affected, or may signifi cantly affect, the operations of the company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
company in future fi nancial years.

Future developments
The company will be entering into contract negotiations during 2015/16 for the renewal of the Multi Project Funding Agreement 
with the Australian Government for the period 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2017.

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future fi nancial years and the 
expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly, this information 
has not been disclosed in this report.

Indemnifi cation of offi  cers and auditors
The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the fi nancial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnifi ed 
or agreed to indemnify an offi cer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such 
an offi cer or auditor.

Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the fi nancial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director. During the fi nancial year, 6 meetings were held.

Board of Directors

Directors Meetings eligible to attend Attended

Ms Amanda Vanstone 6 5

Mr Michael Reid 6 5

Mr Murray Rogers AM 6 5

Mr John Milhinch OAM 3 3

Mr Richard Alder 6 6

Ms Loretta Reynolds 6 5

Mr Malcolm White 6 4

Mr William Mellor 6 4

Mr Lyell Strambi 3 3

Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 30 of the annual report.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone Richard Alder
Chair Director
 Chair Audit and Risk Committee

Canberra, 4 November 2015
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

The Board of Directors 
Level 2 
10-12 Brisbane Avenue 
BARTON, ACT 2600 
 
 

6 November 2015 
 

ROYAL FLYING DOCTORS SERVICE OF AUSTRALIA 
 
Dear Board Members, 
 
In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of 
Royal Flying Doctors Service of Australia.  
As the lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Royal Flying Doctors 
Service of Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, I declare to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
  
 
 
Gaile Pearce 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 6 November 2015 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of 

Australia 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the 
year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the responsible persons’ declaration as set out on pages 33 to 49. In addition, 
we have audited The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance with specific requirements 
of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report and for Compliance with the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for compliance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable compliance with requirements of the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 and the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s compliance with specific requirements of 
the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the entity has complied with specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 
1991 and the financial report is free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the company’s compliance with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of non-compliance with specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and 
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the company’s compliance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2015

 
 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial report. 
 
Inherent Limitations 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance procedure, it is possible that fraud, error, or non-
compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 may occur and not be detected.  An audit is not 
designed to detect all weaknesses in The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 as an audit is not performed continuously throughout the period and the 
tests are performed on a sample basis. 
 
Any projection of the evaluation of compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 to future 
periods is subject to the risk that the procedures, may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with them may deteriorate. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the financial report of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in accordance with the  Division 

60 of the ACNC Act, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements  and 

Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013;  
 
(b) the financial report agrees to the underlying financial records of  The Royal Flying Doctor Service of 

Australia, that have been maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations for the year ended 30 June 2015; and 

 
(c) monies received by The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, as a result of fundraising appeals 

conducted during the year ended 30 June 2015, have been accounted for and applied, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations. 

 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Gaile Pearce 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 6 November 2015 

 

32   ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE   |   FEDERATION OFFICE



Declaration in Respect of Fundraising Appeals
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Directors’ Declaration

I, Amanda Vanstone, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in my 
opinion:

a) the fi nancial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals;

b)  the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act and the conditions attached to the 
authority have been complied with; and

c) the internal controls exercised by the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are appropriate and effective in accounting for 
all income received.

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone
Chair of the Board of Directors

Canberra, 4 November 2015

The directors declare that:

(a)  in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and

(b)  in the directors’ opinion, the attached fi nancial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profi t Commission Act 2012, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the fi nancial position and performance of the company; 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to to s.60.15 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profi t Commission Regulation 2013.

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone Richard Alder
Chair Director
 Chair Audit and Risk Committee

Canberra, 4 November 2015

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT   33



Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 $ 2014 $

Revenue 4 66,279,290 67,001,202

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 393,636 91,754

Distributions to sections and programmes (62,692,020) (62,827,717)

National activities expense (1,041,295) (1,584,968)

Employee benefits expense 5 (1,859,324) (2,073,083)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (146,907) (76,555)

Gain/ (loss) on forward exchange contracts 1,277,940 (945,807)

Other administrative expenses (917,990) (1,021,532)

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year 1,293,330 (1,436,706)

Other comprehensive income

Gain on available-for-sale financial assets 78,363 203,907

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 1,371,693 (1,232,799)
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Note 2015 $ 2014 $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 4,956,753 11,815,403

Trade and other receivables 7 8,315,999 2,206,551

Prepayments 42,930 30,884

Total current assets 13,315,682 14,052,839

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 8 196,193 265,221

Other financial assets 9 31,024 1,630,073

Total non-current assets 227,217 1,895,294

Total assets 13,542,899 15,948,133

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 9,661,103 664,173

Provisions 11 121,712 146,244

Trust fund liability 12 278,182 12,635,804

Total current liabilities 10,060,997 13,446,221

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 11 7,123 5,190

Total non-current liabilities 7,123 5,190

Total liabilities 10,068,120 13,451,411

Net assets 3,474,779 2,496,722

Equity

Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 14 - 315,273

Retained earnings 15 3,474,779 2,181,449

Total equity 3,474,779 2,496,722

Statement of Financial Position
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Available for Sale 
Revaluation Reserve $

Retained 
Earnings $ Total Equity $

Balance at 1 July 2013 203,121 3,618,155 3,821,275

Net deficit for the year - (1,436,706) (1,436,706)

Other comprehensive income for the year 203,907 - 203,907

Total comprehensive income for the year 203,907 (1,436,707) (1,232,799)

Cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale 
financial assets (91,754) - (91,754)

Closing balance at 30 June 2014 315,273 2,181,449 2,496,722

Balance at 1 July 2014 315,273 2,181,449 2,496,722

Net surplus for the year - 1,293,330 1,293,330

Other comprehensive income for the year 78,363 - 78,363

Total comprehensive income for the year 78,363 1,293,330 1,371,693

Cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale 
financial assets (393,636) - (393,636)

Closing balance at 30 June 2015 - 3,474,779 3,474,779
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 $ 2014 $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from sections 1,383,902 1,307,775

Receipts from Commonwealth Government 66,658,056 65,943,809

Donations and legacies 2,282,547 3,248,791

Other receipts 369,486 886,400

Payments to suppliers and employees (343,474) (5,142,288)

Payments to sections (81,078,239) (79,378,753)

  

Net cash provided used in operating activities 17(b) (10,727,722) (13,134,266)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 712,614 867,975

Payments for property, plant and equipment (77,879) (21,476)

Dividends received 90,956 109,908

  

Net cash provided by investing activities 725,691 956,407

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment for settlement of forward exchange contracts 3,143,381 (512,447)

Net cash provided by/ (used in) financing activities 3,143,381 (512,447)

  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,858,650) (12,692,307)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 11,815,403 24,507,710

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 17(a) 4,956,753 11,815,403
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Notes to the financial statements
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

1. General information 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and operates in 
Australia.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows: 

Registered office and principal place of business

Level 2 
10-12 Brisbane Avenue 
BARTON  ACT  2600

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the 
operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in the nature 
of this activity occurred during the year.

2. Significant accounting policies 
Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements, and comply with other requirements of the law. For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the 
company is a not-for-profit entity. 

Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. A statement of compliance with IFRS cannot be made due to 
the application of not for profit sector specific requirements contained in the A-IFRS.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 4 November 2015. 

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current assets and financial 
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Cost is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretation adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results 
or financial position.

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements. Their 
adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may affect the 
accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities’

• The amendments to AASB 132 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets 
and financial liabilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a 
legally enforceable right of set-off’ and simultaneous realisation and settlement’.

• The amendments to AASB 132 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets 
and financial liabilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a 
legally enforceable right of set-off’ and  simultaneous realisation and settlement’.
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AASB 2014-1 
‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ 
(Part A: Annual 
Improvements 2010–2012 
and 2011–2013 Cycles)

The Annual Improvements 2010-2012 has made number of amendments to various AASBs, which 
are summarised below. 

• The amendments to AASB 2 (i) change the definitions of ‘vesting condition’ and ‘market 
condition’; and (ii) add definitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’ which were 
previously included within the definition of ‘vesting condition’. The amendments to AASB 2 are 
effective for sharebased payment transactions for which the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014.

• The amendments to AASB 3 clarify that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset 
or a liability should be measured at fair value at each reporting date, irrespective of whether 
the contingent consideration is a financial instrument within the scope of AASB 9 or AASB 
139 or a non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value (other than measurement period 
adjustments) should be recognised in profit and loss. The amendments to AASB 3 are effective 
for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2014.

• The amendments to the basis for conclusions of AASB 13 clarify that the issue of AASB 13 and 
consequential amendments to AASB 139 and AASB 9 did not remove the ability to measure 
short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice amounts 
without discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

• The amendments to AASB 116 and AASB 138 remove perceived inconsistencies in the 
accounting for accumulated depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant and 
equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The amended standards clarify that the gross carrying 
amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset 
and that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated impairment losses.

The Annual Improvements 2011-2013 has made number of amendments to various AASBs, which 
are summarised below. 

• The amendments to AASB 3 clarify that the standard does not apply to the accounting for the 
formation of all types of joint arrangements in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

• The amendments to AASB 13 clarify that the scope of the portfolio exception for measuring 
the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis includes all 
contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, AASB 139 or 
AASB 9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions of financial assets or financial 
liabilities within AASB 132.

• The amendments to AASB 140 clarify that AASB 140 and AASB 3 are not mutually exclusive 
and application of both standards may be required. Consequently, an entity acquiring 
investment property must determine whether:

• the property meets the definition of investment property in terms of AASB 140; and 

• the transaction meets the definition of a business combination under AASB 3.

The application of these amendments does not have any material impact on the disclosures or on 
the amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards’ (Part B: Defined 
Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions Amendments 
to AASB 119)

• The amendments to AASB 119 clarify how an entity should account for contributions made by 
employees or third parties to defined benefit plans, based on whether those contributions are 
dependent on the number of years of service provided by the employee. 

• For contributions that are independent of the number of years of service, the entity may 
either recognise the contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which the 
related service is rendered, or to attribute them to the employees’ periods of service using the 
projected unit credit method; whereas for contributions that are dependent on the number of 
years of service, the entity is required to attribute them to the employees’ periods of service. 

• The application of these amendments to AASB 119 does not have any material impact on the 
disclosures or on the amount recognised in the Company’s financial statements.

AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’, 
AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards’ – Conceptual 
Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments’ (Part 
B: Materiality), AASB 2014-1 
‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ (Part 
C: Materiality)

• The revised AASB 1031 is an interim standard that cross-references to other Standards and the 
‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’ (issued December 
2013) that contain guidance on materiality. The AASB is progressively removing references 
to AASB 1031 in all Standards and Interpretations. Once all of these references have been 
removed, AASB 1031 will be withdrawn. The adoption of AASB 1031, AASB 2013-9 (Part 
B) and AASB 2014-1 (Part C) does not have any material impact on the disclosures or the 
amounts recognised in the Company’s financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
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The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report: 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of acquisition. 

(b) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating 
cash flows.

(c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

Donations

Donations represent monies received into the company’s bank account.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to that asset’s net carrying amount.

In-kind contributions

Revenue (and expense) from non-monetary in-kind contributions, in relation to time donated to the program without 
compensation from the program have been calculated based on actual costs incurred by the donees.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) Government grants

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the company in return for 
past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government grants include 
government assistance where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the company other than 
the requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants whose primary condition is that the company should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current 
assets are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and recognised as income on a systematic and 
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

(e) Income tax

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax.

(f) Trust fund liability

The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties.

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
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(g) Financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specific category: ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the Company are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 19. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment 
losses which are recognised directly in profit and loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss. Dividends 
on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss where the Company’s right to receive the dividend 
is established.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting 
date. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

 When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed the what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed 
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt securities, 
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

(h) Plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or 
other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Office equipment   15% – 20% 
Leasehold improvements  60%
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(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the 
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

(j) Leased assets

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(k) Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service 
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Liabilities recognised 
in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date.

(l) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(m)  Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(n) Derivative financial instruments

The company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk including foreign 
exchange forward contracts. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 18.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately.
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(o) Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet 
effective. The potential impact of new or revised Standards and Interpretations has not yet been determined.

 
 
Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be 
initially applied in the 
financial year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending standards 30 June 2019 30 June 2019

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and AASB 2014-5 ‘Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15’

1 January 2017 30 June 2018

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2014-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in 
Separate Financial Statements’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 
to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality’

1 July 2015 30 June 2016

3. Segment information 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the provision of support to 
the operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia.

4. Revenue
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows: 

Operating revenue 2015 $ 2014 $

Contributions from sections 1,375,000 1,375,000

Australian Government Operational Grants 58,293,157 56,442,843

Australian Government Mental Health Grant 602,451 740,403

Australian Government Rural Women’s GP Grant 2,900,000 3,500,000

Donations and legacies 2,282,547 3,248,791

65,453,155 65,307,037

Other operating revenue

Interest 389,648 714,159

Dividend income 67,000 93,606

Other items 369,487 886,400

826,135 1,694,164

Total revenue 66,279,290 67,001,202

5. Expenses included in the surplus from operations
Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses:

Depreciation of non-current assets 146,907 76,555

Minimum lease payments 155,801 102,275

Employee benefits expense

Post employment benefits 
– Defined contribution plans 125,483 134,864

Other employee benefits 1,733,841 1,938,219

Total employee benefits expense 1,859,324 2,073,083

The foreign exchange gain of $1,277,940 contributed towards the surplus from operations for 2015. This gain was generated in 
part by the realisation of open forward exchange contracts and in part by the retranslation of foreign currency at year end.
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6. Cash
2015 $ 2014 $

Federation Office Cash

Federal account 1,280,673 1,066,172

Trust donation account 661,261 243,143

Professional funds account 2,577 90,721

Cash in investment portfolio - 32,417

1,944,511 1,432,454

Trust Fund Assets

Commonwealth Funds – General Account 3,011,719 4,497,396

Commonwealth Funds – Term Deposit - 5,184,110

Commonwealth Funds – US Dollar Account 523 701,444

3,012,242 10,382,950

4,956,753 11,815,403

7. Trade and other receivables
Department of Health & Ageing Grant receivable 6,711,766 97,576

Dividend income receivable 11,477 35,433

Interest income receivable - 322,966

Foreign exchange forward contract - 173,302

Other receivables 363,402 279,388

GST receivable 1,229,354 1,297,886

8,315,999 2,206,551

The average credit period is 30 days.

8. Plant and equipment Leasehold improvements 
at cost $

Plant and equipment 
at cost $ Total $

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2013 24,538 633,954 658,492

Additions - 21,476 21,476

Disposals - (29,425) (29,425)

Balance at 1 July 2014 24,538 626,005 650,543

Additions - 87,305 87,305

Disposals - (11,279) (11,279)

Balance at 30 June 2015 24,538 702,031 726,569

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2013 24,538 313,654 338,192

Disposals - (29,425) (29,425)

Depreciation expense - 76,555 76,555

   

Balance at 1 July 2014 24,538 360,784 385,322

Disposals - (11,279) (11,279)

Depreciation expense - 156,333 156,333

   

Balance at 30 June 2015 24,538 505,838 530,376

Net book value

As at 30 June 2014 - 265,221 265,221

As at 30 June 2015 196,193 196,193

Leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash.
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9. Other financial assets
2015 $ 2014 $

Rental bond deposit 23,997 9,270

Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value:

Listed securities 7,027 1,620,803

31,024 1,630,073

10. Trade and other payables
Trade payables (i) 5,984,530 214,709

Accruals and other payables 3,676,573 449,464

9,661,103 664,173

(i)  The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The Company 
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

11. Provisions
Employee benefits

Annual leave 87,810 112,342

Long service leave 7,123 5,190

Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902

  

128,835 151,434

The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:

Provision for employee benefits

Current 87,810 112,342

Non-Current 7,123 5,190

94,933 117,532

2015 No. 2014 No.

Number of full-time employees at the year end 9 9

12. Trust fund liability
Commonwealth Funds 278,182 12,635,804

278,182 12,635,804

13. Contributed equity
No contributed equity has been issued as the company is limited by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the liability of the 
members is limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the company. At 30 June 2015 the number of members was 9 (2014: 9).

14. Available-for-sale revaluation reserve
Balance at beginning of the financial year 315,273 203,121

Valuation gain recognised 78,363 203,907

Cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets (393,636) (91,754)

Balance at end of the financial year - 315,273

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss 
when those assets have been disposed of or are determined to be impaired. During the year, the investments were sold and the 
reserve fully realised.
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15. Retained earnings
2015 2014

Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,181,449 3,618,155

Net surplus/ (deficit) for the year 1,293,330 (1,436,706)

Balance at end of the financial year 3,474,779 2,181,449

16. Leases
The operating leases relate to the office premises. The company has neither an option to purchase the leased asset at the 
expiry of the lease period or to extend for further years.

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 111,511 92,300

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 79,155 52,863

190,666 145,163

17. Notes to the statement of cash flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as 
follows:

Federal account 1,280,673 1,066,172

Trust donation account 661,261 243,143

Professional funds account 2,577 90,721

Cash in investment portfolio - 32,417

Commonwealth Funds – term deposit - 5,184,110

Commonwealth Funds – US Dollar account 523 701,444

Commonwealth Funds – general account 3,011,719 4,497,396

Cash and cash equivalents 4,956,753 11,815,403

(b) Reconciliation of surplus/ (deficit) for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,293,330 (1,436,706)

Interest received/ receivable (389,648) (714,159)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 146,907 76,555

Dividend income received/ receivable (67,000) (93,606)

Loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets (393,636) (91,754)

(Gain)/ loss on forward exchange contracts (1,277,940) 945,807

Changes in net assets and liabilities

(Increase)/ decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (6,698,204) 7,547,045

Other current assets (26,772) 6,241

Increase/ (decrease) in liabilities:

Trade and other payables (3,292,160) (19,284,679)

Provisions (22,599) (89,010)

  

Net cash (used in)/ provided by operating activities (10,727,722) 13,134,266
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18. Financial instruments 
(a) Capital risk management

The company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern. The company’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2014. The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and retained earnings. 
Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the operations of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2015 $ 2014 $

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 8,315,999 2,206,551

Cash and cash equivalents 1,944,511 1,432,454

Trust fund assets 3,012,242 10,382,950

Available-for-sale investments 7,027 1,630,073

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 9,661,103 664,173

Trust fund liability 278,182 12,635,804

(c) Financial risk management objectives

The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 
purposes. The company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and currency risk which 
is mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments.

(d) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

(e)  Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
approximates their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Outstanding Contracts Average Exchange Rate Foreign Currency Notional Value
Fair Value of 

Hedge Instrument

2015 $ 2014 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ 2015 $ 2014 $

Forward foreign 
currency contracts

3 months to 1 year - 1.072 - 4,998,000 - 5,357,412 - (173,302)

- (173,302)
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19. Key management personnel compensation 
The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were:

Directors

Amanda Vanstone 
Michael Reid 
Murray Rogers 
John Milhinch (resigned 21 November 2014) 
Richard Alder 
Loretta Reynolds 
Malcolm White 
Wiliam Mellor 
Lyell Strambi (appointed 21 November 2014)

Other key management personnel

Martin Laverty, Chief Executive Officer 
David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
Lauren Gale, Director Policy and Planning

The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below:

2015 $ 2014 $

Short-term employee benefits 785,348 945,771
  

The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year.

20. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority 
Conditions pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 

2015 $ 2014 $

Gross income from fundraising:

Donations and legacies 2,282,547 3,248,791

Total costs of fundraising (14,562) (90,655)

Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (2,253,950) (2,998,834)

Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 14,035 159,302

% %

Total costs to gross income from fundraising 0.64 2.79

Net excess to gross income from fundraising 0.61 4.90

Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 98.75 92.31

Total disbursements for projects to total income received 99.39 95.10
  

It is the policy of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to distribute all donations, legacies and sponsorships which 
comprise its fundraising activities to each of its Sections, other than an amount approved by Board Resolution to be retained 
by the Federation Office up to $250,000 per annum. Given the nature of these activities, it has minimal costs associated with 
fundraising. Furthermore, due to the timing of receipts and payments it is considered reasonable that gross income may exceed 
funds disbursed or that funds disbursed may exceed gross income at year end.
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21. Remuneration of auditors
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors from the company and any related body corporate is as follows:

2015 $ 2014 $

Auditing the financial statements and grant funding agreements 37,000 37,958

Consulting and other assurance services 18,000 7,875

55,000 45,833

The auditor of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

22. Related party disclosures
During the current financial year, there were no related party transactions or balances at the year-end.

23. Subsequent events
There has not arisen during the interval between the end of the reporting period and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature that has, in the opinion of the Directors of the company, significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in 
subsequent financial years.
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Section Aviation Statistics

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK HOURS

Number 
of Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

Central Operations

Alice Springs 7 4,822 4,822 2,318,833 2,318,833 6,771 6,771 

Adelaide 4 6,367 6,367 1,887,399 1,887,399 6,076 6,076 

Port Augusta 3 4,159 4,159 1,245,321 1,245,321 3,823 3,823 

TOTAL 14 15,348 0 15,348 5,451,553 0 5,451,553 16,670 0 16,670 

Queensland Section

Brisbane 2 4,104 159 4,263 1,332,025 35,468 1,367,493 4,007 130 4,137 

Bundaberg 1 3,156 0 3,156 827,025 0 827,025 2,670 0 2,670 

Cairns 6 4,167 150 4,317 1,394,662 37,636 1,432,298 4,476 150 4,626 

Charleville 2 1,461 0 1,461 560,078 0 560,078 1,706 0 1,706 

Longreach 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 

Mt Isa 4 2,332 67 2,399 736,700 13,281 749,980 2,209 58 2,267 

Rockhampton 3 3,655 0 3,655 1,376,208 0 1,376,208 3,985 0 3,985 

Roma 1 684 0 684 166,537 0 166,537 538 0 538 

Townsville 2 3,437 96 3,533 1,530,809 22,758 1,553,567 4,223 90 4,313 

TOTAL 21 22,996 472 23,468 7,924,045 109,142 8,033,187 23,815 427 24,242 

South Eastern Section*

Broken Hill 4 1,995 62 2,057 578,859 15,781 594,640 1,950 52 2,002 

Dubbo 3 1,894 1,894 570,905 570,905 1,837 1,837 

Gonski Dental 1 390 45 435 96,302 10,232 106,534 320 36 355 

Bankstown 1 434 575 1,009 115,787 144,588 260,375 401 507 908 

Launceston 2 2,182 2,182 465,393 465,393 1,855 1,855 

Essendon 1 582 582 212,919 212,919 677 677 

Mascot 5 8,573 8,573 2,681,863 2,681,863 9,246 9,246 

HQ 1 39 39 14,423 14,423 60 60 

TOTAL 18 16,089 682 16,771 4,736,451 170,601 4,907,052 16,345 595 16,939 

Western Operations

Derby 2 3,136 1,405 4,541 1,347,580 207,803 1,555,383 4,137 854 4,991 

Jandakot 6 6,932 397 7,329 2,511,560 45,763 2,557,323 7,926 219 8,145 

Kalgoorlie 2 2,073 160 2,233 992,416 48,130 1,040,546 2,925 185 3,110 

Meekatharra 2 3,850 109 3,959 1,281,325 23,261 1,304,586 3,606 100 3,706 

Port Hedland 2 2,538 473 3,011 1,476,316 97,449 1,573,765 4,136 362 4,498 

Perth Airport 1 294 10 304 397,261 26,669 423,930 614 38 652 

TOTAL 15 18,823 2,554 21,377 8,006,458 449,075 8,455,533 23,344 1,758 25,102 

GRAND TOTAL 68 73,256 3,708 76,964 26,118,507 728,818 26,847,325 80,174 2,780 82,954 

* South Eastern Section includes two aircraft planned to be sold (Total Aircraft Fleet is 66)
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Aviation Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Total All Sections

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK HOURS

Year
Number of 

Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

2014/2015 68* 73,256 3,708 76,964 26,118,507 728,818 26,847,325 80,174 2,780 82,954 

2013/2014 67 71,274 4,040 75,314 25,617,353 793,258 26,410,611 78,788 2,989 81,777 

2012/2013 66 70,994 4,717 75,711 25,592,900 1,022,586 26,615,486 76,210 3,697 79,906 

2011/2012 65 69,477 4,671 74,148 25,490,128 1,107,568 26,597,696 77,185 3,801 80,986

2010/2011 64 71,017 4,701 75,718 25,598,693 1,270,997 26,869,690 77,114 3,845 80,959

2009/2010 60 68,696 5,518 74,214 24,383,443 1,209,012 25,592,455 72,895 4,470 77,365

2008/2009 53 65,141 6,629 71,770 22,414,964 1,508,476 23,923,440 67,786 5,425 73,211

2007/2008 51 62,566 6,458 69,024 21,738,198 1,442,240 23,180,438 65,256 5,320 70,576

2006/2007 47 60,013 5,061 65,074 20,656,438 1,058,157 21,714,595 61,685 4,113 65,798

2005/2006 50 58,416 4,595 63,011 19,535,099 907,975 20,443,074 57,597 3,784 61,381

2004/2005 47 55,542 2,315 57,857 18,515,809 1,008,550 19,524,359 54,607 4,225 58,832

2003/2004 45 56,008 2,004 58,012 18,428,169 1,092,198 19,520,367 56,050 4,213 60,263

2002/2003 36 37,024 1,347 38,371 13,732,239 338,564 14,070,803 40,269 1,402 41,672

2001/2002 40 45,313 3,897 49,210 15,544,830 1,037,661 16,602,491 45,681 4,012 49,693

2000/2001 42 36,307 3,930 40,237 14,811,922 1,175,306 15,987,228 43,141 4,319 47,459

1999/2000 40 39,600 3,882 43,482 13,538,175 1,018,235 14,556,410 40,319 3,884 44,203

1998/1999 41 39,513 2,919 42,432 12,681,197 1,006,715 13,687,912 39,405 3,760 43,165

1997/1998 40 36,415 3,624 40,039 12,544,579 803,889 13,348,468 35,957 2,999 38,956

1996/1997 38 31,613 3,118 34,731 11,202,447 724,765 11,927,212 32,230 2,737 34,967

1995/1996 38 31,289 2,730 34,019 10,732,934 583,434 11,316,368 31,645 2,199 33,844

1994/1995 36 27,548 2,303 29,851 8,940,914 542,519 9,483,433 26,786 1,958 28,744

1993/1994 37 25,589 1,647 27,236 8,401,110 290,430 8,691,540 25,377 1,124 26,501

1992/1993 37 24,963 2,509 27,472 8,301,017 473,512 8,774,529 25,711 1,738 27,449

1991/1992 37 23,420 2,982 26,402 7,638,207 615,210 8,253,417 24,301 2,305 26,606

* Number of aircraft includes two to be sold.
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Central Operations Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-FMP Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 Alice Springs

VH-FMW Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 Alice Springs

VH-FMZ Pilatus PC-12 1996 Mar-96 Roy & Marjory Edwards Alice Springs

VH-FDE Pilatus PC-12 2000 Sep-00 Senex Energy

VH-FGR Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FGS Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FGT Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FDK Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-03

VH-FDJ Pilatus PC-12 2007 Jan-08 Beth Steward Klugh

VH-FVA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10 Our Auxiliaries & 
Support Groups

Variety – The 
Childrens's Charity

VH-FVB Pilatus PC-12 2010 Apr-10 BHP Biliton

VH-FVD Pilatus PC-12 2010 Jul-10 Our Inaugural Doctors Li-Ka Shing 
Foundation

VH-FVE Pilatus PC-12 2010 Sep-10 Our Pioneering Women Alinta Energy

VH-FVF Pilatus PC-12 2010 Oct-10 Barry Lodge OAM Oz Minerals

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 14

Queensland Section Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-NQA Beechcraft King Air B200C 1982 Apr-91 Cairns

VH-FFI Beechcraft B200 1982 Feb-95 Mount Isa

VH-FDD Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE

2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDF Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE

2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDC Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-NQB Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-FDP Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Charleville

VH-FDR Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDW Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDZ Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Roma

VH-FDB Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 May-07 Townsville

VH-FDA Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Aug-07 Bundaberg

VH-FDT Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Oct-07 Brisbane

VH-FDG Beechcraft King Air B200 2009 Jul-09 Mount Isa

VH-NQC Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-NQD Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-FDS Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Sep-10 Townsville

VH-FDI Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Rockhampton

VH-FDM Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Brisbane

VH-FDL Beechcraft King Air B200C 2014 Jul-14 Cairns

VH-FDO Beechcraft King Air B200C 2014 Jul-14 Cairns

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 21

Aviation Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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South Eastern Section Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-MVY* Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Sep-98 Flying Doctor Society Bankstown

VH-MVL* Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Oct-97 Outback Car Trek Dubbo

VH-MVS Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Jun-03 Broken Hill

VH-MVP Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Sep-03 Essendon

VH-MSH Beecraft Kingair B200 2001 Sep-03 HQ

VH-MWV Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Dec-03 Kaye Melmeth Launceston

VH-MVJ Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Jul-04 Lady Nancy Broken Hill

VH-MVW Beecraft Kingair B200 2007 May-07 RFDS Friends Broken Hill

VH-MWK Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08 Dubbo

VH-MVX Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08 Dubbo

VH-MWH Beecraft Kingair B200 2008 Dec-08 Broken Hill

VH-NAJ Beecraft Kingair B300C 2011 Mar-12 Mascot

VH-NAO Beecraft Kingair B300C 2011 Apr-12 Mascot

VH-AMQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Sep-12 Mascot

VH-AMR Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Jun-12 Mascot

VH-AMS Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Aug-12 Mascot

VH-LTQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2013 May-13 Launceston

VH-MSZ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2014 Nov-14 Dubbo

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 18

* Two aircraft to be sold

Western Operations Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-VWO* Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-01 BHP Billiton

VH-YWO Pilatus PC-12 2006 Sep-06

VH-ZWO Pilatus PC-12 2004 Feb-04 Barrick Gold

VH-OWA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jun-09

VH-OWP Pilatus PC-12 2008 Aug-08

VH-OWQ Pilatus PC-12 2008 Nov-08

VH-OWR Pilatus PC-12 2008 Jan-09

VH-OWB Pilatus PC-12 2009 Dec-09

VH-OWD Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jan-10

VH-OWG Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10

VH-OWI Pilatus PC-12 2010 Dec-10

VH-RIO Hawker 800XP 2002 Oct-09 Perth Airport Rio Tinto

VH-OWS Pilatus PC-12 2013 Dec-13

VH-OWJ Pilatus PC-12 2013 Nov-13

VH-OWX Pilatus PC-12 2013 Mar-14

VH-OWU Pilatus PC-12 2013 Mar-14

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 16

*Four aircraft to be sold

TOTAL AIRCRAFT – ALL SECTIONS 69 ( Includes three planned disposals for 2015/16)

TOTAL AIRCRAFT ADJUSTED FOR DISPOSALS 66

Aviation Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Telehealth and Patients Attended

TELEHEALTH PATIENTS ATTENDED

Base / Location Radio Telephone Other TOTAL

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics

RFDS 
Medical 
Services Inpatients

Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP Service TOTAL

Central Operations

Port Augusta 3,835 3,835 2,255 1,040 3,387  6,682 

Marree 833 833 3,271  3,271 

Adelaide 0 117 1,843  1,960 

Alice Springs 0 6,192 14,840  21,032 

TOTAL 0 4,668 0 4,668 2,255 1,040 12,850 14,840 0 0 117 1,843  32,945 

Queensland Section

Brisbane 6,445 93 6,538 2,058  2,058 

Bundaberg 2 5,219 30 5,251  -   

Cairns 8,871 8,871 11,687 9,008 3,678 1,567  25,940 

Charleville 2 2,032 85 2,119 2,763 1,848 59  4,670 

Longreach 212 212 1,585  1,585 

Mount Isa 5,055 20 5,075 3,960 1,130 81  5,171 

Rockhampton 6,303 37 6,340  -   

Townsville 5,830 63 5,893 2,726  2,726 

TOTAL 4 39,967 328 40,299 18,410 11,986 5,403 0 0 0 2,726 3,625  42,150 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill 6,403 6,403 7,791 450 2,103 2,653  12,997 

Dubbo 0 1,691  1,691 

Cooper Basin 0 212 6,138  6,350 

Bankstown 0 15,279  15,279 

NSW 0 1,795  1,795 

Tasmania (refer 
below) 0  -   

TOTAL 0 6,403 0 6,403 8,003 450 23,520 0 0 0 4,344 1,795  38,112 

Western Operations

Derby 8,066 8,066 572 1,489 4,531 213  6,805 

Jandakot 16,084 16,084 540 1,406 8 59 1,233 2,747  5,993 

Kalgoorlie 7,890 7,890 617  617 

Meekatharra 4,316 4,316 945 626 236  1,807 

Port Hedland 4,844 4,844 1,326 2,025 10  3,361 

TOTAL 0 41,200 0 41,200 4,000 1,489 0 7,962 634 518 1,233 2,747  18,583 

Victoria

Northern Mallee  -    -   206  206  -    -    294  -    -    -    1,076  873  2,243 

TOTAL  -    -    206  206  -    -    294  -    -    -    1,076  873  2,243 

Tasmania

Tasmania  -    -   0  -    -    -    -    -    -    349  692  1,041 

TOTAL  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    349  692  1,041 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  4  92,238  534  92,776  32,668  14,965  42,067  22,802  634  518  9,845  11,575  135,074 

Previous Years

2013/2014  8  82,051  297  82,305  35,931  16,002  23,456  42,035  3,229  1,302  9,861  13,054  145,304 

2012/2013  16  89,204  296  89,516  38,587  24,946  15,948  44,787  5,761  2,575  6,913  14,472  153,989 

2011/2012  77  88,117  336  88,530  37,436  -  40,505  40,925  7,102  2,148  -  16,380  144,496 

2010/2011  14  92,608  460  93,082  37,765  -  32,201  49,293  6,592  1,978  -  16,874  144,703 

Health Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Clinics Conducted and Patients Transported

NUMBER OF CLINICS CONDUCTED NUMBER OF PATIENTS TRANSPORTED

Base / Location

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics
Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP 
Service TOTAL

Primary 
Evacuations

Inter-
hospital 

Transfers

Patients 
Transported 

from a 
clinic Repatriations TOTAL

TOTAL 
Immunisa-

tions

Central Operations

Port Augusta 255 203 601  1,059 73 1,693 34 10 1,810 472 

Marree 504 50  554 0 20 

Adelaide 5 200  205 25 4,193 40 4,258 

Alice Springs 175 1,060  1,235 1,550 971 30 2,551 

TOTAL 255 707 1,060 5 200 3,053 1,648 6,857 34 80 8,619 492 

Queensland Section

Brisbane 170  170 7 2,320 18 2,345 0 

Bundaberg  - 4 1,975 19 1,998 0 

Cairns 1,116 1,379 541 176  3,212 489 612 4 1,105 2,511 

Charleville 248 285 21  554 86 342 23 5 456 1,025 

Longreach 512  512 0 0 

Mount Isa 280 194 13  487 393 522 9 2 926 480 

Rockhampton  - 15 2,423 22 2,460 0 

Townsville 312  312 39 2,214 11 2,264 36 

TOTAL 1,644 1,858 1,087 0 312 346 5,247 1,033 10,408 32 81 11,554 4,052 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill 703 130 626 350  1,809 171 598 769 215 

Dubbo 243  243 34 933 967 

Cooper Basin 46 1,576  1,622 0 

Bankstown 961  961 0 

NSW 160  160 0 

Launceston (refer Tas.)  - 0 

Essendon (refer Vic.)  - 0 

Mascot  - 5,230 5,230 

TOTAL 749 130 3,163 0 593 160 4,795 205 6,761 0 0 6,966 215 

Western Operations

Derby 42 76 713  831 442 942 223 92 1,699 250 

Jandakot 44 153 176 211  584 268 3,545 88 3,901 45 

Kalgoorlie 120  120 236 898 7 43 1,184 23 

Meekatharra 86  86 185 654 6 845 31 

Port Hedland 147 190  337 316 927 36 12 1,291 39 

Perth Airport 0  - 3 202 7 212 

TOTAL 439 76 0 1,056 176 211 1,958 1,450 7,168 266 248 9,132 388 

Victoria

Victoria Road Transport  - 26,952 26,952 

Essendon – Air Transport  - 414 414 

Victorian Clinics 61 63  124 0 

TOTAL 0 0 61 0 0 63 124 0 27,366 0 0 27,366 0 

Tasmania

Launceston  - 1,036 1,036 

Clinics - Tasmania 11 60  71 0 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 11 60 71 0 1,036 0 0 1,036 0 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  3,357  2,640  3,677  4,095  1,108  1,219  16,096  4,986  48,977  299  443  54,705 5,147 

Previous Years

2013/2014  3,357  2,640  3,677  4,095  1,108  1,219  16,096  4,986  48,977  299  443  54,705  6,218 

2012/2013  3,540  3,138  2,942  4,076  830  1,293 15,819  4,920  46,005  342  384  51,651  7,128 

2011/2012  3,565  -  5,511  3,904  -  1,432 14,412  4,964  31,872  368  424  40,705  6,312 

2010/2011  3,609  -  5,248  3,647  -  1,432 13,936  4,620  34,815  418  469  40,322  5,908 

Health Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Staff Employed (Headcount) as at 30 June 2015

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

Tasmanian 
Section

Federation 
Office Total

F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T

Administration 26 5 72 19 30 5 34 17 13 7 1 1 7 2 183 56

Allied Health 0 0

Ambulance Transport Attendants 7 54 7 54

Dental 3 2 1 6 1 4 9

Engineers / Engineering Support 18 2 6 30 4 18 0 72 6

General Hands 1 0 1

Health Promotion 3 1 1 3 4 4

Indigenous Health Workers / 
Liaison Staff 1 1 10 1 11 2

Medical Practitioners 4 1 18 24 12 2 22 28 2 56 57

Medical Specialist 1 1 10 2 10

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 5 2 32 5 3 1 40 8

Operational Coordinators 12 4 16 28 4

Patient Transport Officers 16 54 16 54

Pilots 34 61 1 51 50 2 196 3

Public Relations / Fundraising 7 7 5 11 4 7 3 7 2 2 39 16

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 2 5 2 5

Registered Nurses 29 15 55 17 24 6 22 32 2 31 132 101

Tourist Facilities / 
Merchandising / Other 2 21 1 3 1 14 4 38

Total Staff Headcount  * 138 55 263 73 167 27 172 98 48 170 1 3 7 2 796 428

Grand Total 1,224 

* Includes casual staff

FTE – Staff Employed as at 30 June 2015

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

Tasmanian 
Section

Federation 
Office Total

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Administration  28.90  85.13  35.00  38.20  19.30  1.75  8.60  216.88 

Allied Health  -   

Ambulance Transport Attendants  47.50  47.50 

Dental  4.60  2.60  0.50  7.70 

Engineers / Engineering Support  19.10  6.00  34.00  17.20  76.30 

General Hands  0.55  0.55 

Health Promotion  2.00  1.60  3.00  6.60 

Indigenous Health Workers / 
Liaison Staff  1.70  10.80  12.50 

Medical Practitioners  4.50  31.69  13.00  36.00  0.20  85.39 

Medical Specialist  1.00  6.00  7.00 

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol  5.60  35.20  3.50  44.30 

Operational Coordinators  15.00  16.00  31.00 

Patient Transport Officers  56.50  56.50 

Pilots  34.00  61.50  51.00  47.90  194.40 

Public Relations / Fundraising  7.00  10.70  14.40  9.10  8.50  0.88  50.58 

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators  2.00  5.00  7.00 

Registered Nurses  36.60  64.50  29.30  44.90  25.25  200.55 

Tourist Facilities / 
Merchandising / Other  7.10  3.30  1.00  2.80  14.20 

Total Staff FTE #  162.05  308.12  190.10  218.90  168.55  2.63  8.60  1,058.95 

# These figures include full-time, fixed-term contract and casual employees

Employment Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Royal Flying Doctor Service Traditional Services are funded by the Commonwealth Government and include Primary 
Evacuations, GP and Nursing Clinics, Remote Consultations and Medical Chests.

In the table below our activity under these service areas is shown for the last six years.

Traditional Services Activity 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Primary Evacuations  4,609  4,591  4,964  4,920 4,986  4,336 

GP Clinics  3,019  2,894  3,054  2,941 3,017  2,628 

Patient Contacts at GP Clinics  30,554  29,759  31,018  31,287 31,027  28,525 

Nursing Clinics  1,411  1,376  1,587  1,427 1,453  1,181 

Patient Contacts at Nursing Clinics  9,670  9,588  10,432  11,474 9,616  7,728 

Remote Consultations  70,109  69,688  63,377  65,126 56,735  62,746 

Medical Chests  2,551  2,419  2,431  2,568 2,532  2,359 
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Our Traditional Services
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

PRIMARY EVACUATIONS

PATIENT CONTACTS AT NURSING CLINICS

PATIENT CONTACTS AT GP CLINICS
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A veteran’s bequest

In May 2015 a bequest was received 
for $320,259.11 from an Australian 
Navy veteran who had left one quarter 
of the residual of his estate to the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service of Australia. 
As his last wishes and as part of his 
ongoing legacy, this bequest has been 
distributed to all RFDS Sections across 
Australia for their continued work in 
rural and remote Australia.

RFDS Friends of the UK

“I am delighted to be writing to you 
on behalf of our Trustees, with the 
news that we are ready to donate 
£94,000 to RFDS of Australia from 
the major fundraising function we 
held at the Imperial War Museum in 
November 2014.

“The event was an enormous success 
and we had a lot of fun. The fundraising 
theme was to raise funds for necessary 
equipment for RFDS of Australia.”

Australian Trap Collectors 
Association of Australia 

“On behalf of our Association, we would 
like to make a donation of $500 to the 
RFDS in support of the good work your 
organisation does for the Australian 
community.

“Our club is a not-for-profit association 
who foster and support the collecting of 
traps (of all types) throughout Australia. 
These are not for use but are acquired 
as a collectable and the members 
undertake to collect these as a means 
of preserving an important part of 
Australia’s history. Our collecting takes 
us to many parts of the country and 
in particular, to remote, outback and 
rural areas.

“It is for this reason members are aware 
of the Royal Flying Doctor Service and 
unanimously agreed it was appropriate 
to make a donation on behalf of our 
club in support of your organisation.

“Keep up the good work.”

Every year, the Flying Doctor relies heavily on the support of 

the communities in which it works – from those who volunteer 

to drive ambulances, to the everyday Australians who donate 

to keep the Doctor flying. We have a deep respect for these 

incredible people and thank them sincerely for their ongoing 

support. Here’s a small sample from the last year:

Our Supporters >

New RFDS incubator 
purchased with the support of 

RFDS Friends of the UK
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Big Sister self-saucing pudding

The Big Sister self-saucing chocolate 
pudding is considered a sacred relic in 
Australia’s rich motorcycling community. 
It all started in 1976 when two keen 
motorcyclists ‘Bear’ from Western 
Australia and ‘Eric’ from South Australia 
had a dinner and Eric showed up 
with a Big Sister self-saucing pudding 
for dessert.

Unfortunately, after a few drinks, the 
pudding was forgotten, dinner was 
consumed and the weary friends parted 
company. The following year the two 
men arranged to catch up again and 
Bear took the pudding with him for 
dessert, again it wasn’t eaten.

The Pudding became a bit of a joke 
between the two men who travelled 
with the pudding for years before 
allowing it to be passed around to 
other motorcyclists who began to 
carry it across the country. It has 
been travelling Australia’s highways 
and back-roads ever since, covering 
hundreds of thousands of kilometres 
and becoming motorcycling Australia’s 
greatest hitchhiker.

No single person owns the pudding, it 
belongs to the motorcycling community 
and doesn’t stay in one place or with 
one person for long. Over the years 
the tin started to deteriorate so it was 
decided to encase the pudding in 
resin to preserve it for Australia’s future 
motorcyclists. In the last 10 to 15 years 
the motorcycling community decided to 
auction off the carrying of the Pudding at 
different motorcycling events and donate 
the proceeds to the Royal Flying Doctors 
Service. The highest bidder then carries 
the Pudding to the next event for another 
auction. The exact amount of money 
raised by the Pudding is unknown 
however it is believed to be well into the 
tens of thousands of dollars.

Federal Government

The Australian Government announced 
in May’s Federal Budget an increase 
of $20 million in budgeted funding for 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service over 
the next two years. May’s Federal 
Budget also announced $33.7 million 
for upgrade of remote airstrips, owned 
by others, but used by the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service to retrieve injured and ill 
people from different parts of Australia. 
For this support of our charitable 
donors and Commonwealth funder, we 
say thank you.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
Programme is an Australian 
Government initiative.

The exact amount of money raised by 
the Pudding is unknown however it 
is believed to be well into the tens of 
thousands of dollars.
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ABN 74 438 059 643

How you can help >
Whilst the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives 

some support from Commonwealth, State 

and Territory governments, we rely heavily on 

fundraising and donations from the community 

to purchase and medically equip our aircraft 

and to support other health initiatives.

> Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue, 
Barton ACT 2600

> Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435

> Visit flyingdoctor.org.au to make an online donation

  flyingdoctor.org.au

  facebook.com/royalflyingdoctorservice

  @RoyalFlyingDoc

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia

Federation Office 
Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue, 
Barton ACT 2600 
T  02 6269 5500 
F  02 6269 5516 
W  www.flyingdoctor.org.au


